FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/7/2020
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
2/6/2020 4:34 PM

98163-9

Court of Appeal Cause No. 51898-8-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THERSA J. LOWE, a single woman; LOREN J. BOSSHARD and DONNA A. BOSSHARD, husband and wife, Appellants/Petitioners

٧.

FOXHALL COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION, a nonprofit corporation, Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL LLP Dianne K. Conway, WSBA No. 28542 1201 Pacific Ave., Suite 2100 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 620-6500

Attorneys for Appellants/Petitioners Theresa J. Lowe and Loren J. Bosshard and Donna A. Bosshard

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS.

Petitioners Theresa J. Lowe and Loren J. and Donna Bosshard ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals set forth in Section B of this Petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion issued on January 7, 2020 in Case No. 51898-8-II. A copy of the Unpublished Opinion is located in the attached Appendix at pages A-1 through A-7.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

The Foxhall Bylaw governing regular and special meetings expressly states that "[a] member may exercise his right to vote by proxy." At the time of the vote in question, the Foxhall Bylaw regarding amendment of Bylaws states that the Bylaws "may be amended at any time by a vote of a majority of the members of the corporation present at any meeting of the membership duly called for such purpose." Are proxy votes in support of (or opposing) a Bylaws amendment permitted, or must the member be physically present at the meeting?

Page 1 [4846-1597-3811]

¹ CP 400.

² CP 50.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

1. The Foxhall Community.

The Foxhall Community was platted as a 118-lot community in Thurston County starting in 1981.³ The development was marketed as an equestrian-friendly residential community with several miles of trails owned and maintained by the Foxhall Community Association,⁴ a Washington non-profit corporation and homeowner's association established by the developer of the Foxhall Community in 1981.⁵

The Foxhall Community is subject to the Foxhall Community Protective Covenants ("Covenants") recorded by the developer in 1981.6 The Covenants mandate that all of the lots in the Foxhall Community "shall be used for residential purposes only." The Covenants further declare that the trail system owned by the Association is for the benefit of Foxhall residents:

[The Tracts containing the trail system and park] shall be for the benefit of, and [shall] be used by, the residents in Foxhall. . . and the maintenance thereof shall be the responsibility of the Foxhall Community Association and all repairs and maintenance thereof shall be provided for at the expense of the Foxhall Community Association

Page 2 [4846-1597-3811]

³ CP 360, 362-63, 365-67.

⁴ CP 353.

⁵ CP 30-33.

⁶ CP 35-41.

⁷ CP 36.

and funded by assessments against all owners of lots in Foxhall . . . "8

2. A dispute arises regarding non-resident and commercial use of the bridle trails.

The use of the Foxhall trails by nonresidents has been a longstanding concern in Foxhall Community. On November 15, 1997, for example, Association President Dennis Longnecker wrote a letter to a neighboring (non-member) property owner who was using the trails unaccompanied:

The "Bridle Trails" in Foxhall (Tracts, H, I, J, and K) are for the benefit of, and to be used by Members of the Foxhall Community Association and their accompanied guests. . . . While this may seem the unneighborly thing to do, but due to the current (and future) developments around Foxhall. homeowner security. insurance/liability concerns, we feel this is a essential step in protecting the investment of Foxhall Community Association members. Please do not utilize these trails unless a bona fide member of the Foxhall Community Association Simply accompanies you. permission by a member - or on your way to visit them is not considered a bona fide use.9

Four years later, the Foxhall Newsletter, *Foxhallian*, documented a survey Foxhall members that found 85% of members objected to non-resident use of the trails.¹⁰ In confirmation of this opposition, signs posted at the direction of the Association's Boards of Directors over

Page 3 [4846-1597-3811]

⁸ Cp 35.

⁹ CP 415 (emphasis in original).

¹⁰ CP 372-378.

the years state that the trails are to be used by the residents only or accompanied guests. ¹¹

In 2003 Foxhall community members Gary and Judy Johnston started operating the Johnston Farm Arabians, Inc., a boarding/riding facility with approximately 18 horses. ¹² In response to ongoing complaints, the Association's Board of Directors repeatedly advised the Johnstons that their non-resident boarders could not use Foxhall trails. ¹³ Nevertheless, the Johnstons continued to allow their unaccompanied non-resident boarders use the community trails.

3. The Foxhall Members vote to ban commercial use of the bridle trails.

The issue of nonresidents using the trails unaccompanied and for commercial purposes came to a head in 2015. On August 24, 2015, the Board learned that the Association's insurance company was not willing to continue to insure if non-resident boarders used the trails for commercial purposes. Nevertheless, a majority of the Board of Directors adopted a resolution that allowed commercial boarders to use the trails when accompanied by a Foxhall resident. 15

Page 4 [4846-1597-3811]

¹¹ CP 354, 382, 413.

¹² CP 115, 407. The prior owner of the property, Les Whisler, had also boarded horses for both Foxhall residents and non-residents. CP 59.

¹³ CP 115, CP 384.

¹⁴ CP 111-12.

¹⁵ CP 117.

Concerned about the ramifications of the Board's resolution on members' liability exposure and its inconsistency with the Covenants and Foxhall Residents' wishes, a group of residents spearheaded the scheduling of a Special Meeting of Association members on November 19, 2015, to address the commercia use of the trails. The Notice for the Special Meeting stated that the Objective was to "Amend the Bylaws to adopt a clarifying rule for current and future Boards of Directors" and that the proposed bylaw amendment

clarifies the governing documents that Foxhall Parks and Trails are for the exclusive use of residents, families and friends. Foxhall Association members' businesses may not extend their business activities onto Foxhall Parks and Trails.¹⁷

At the time of the November 19, 2015 meeting, the Foxhall Community Association had 127 members. 18 The Board circulated proxy for the meeting, and Seventy-three members submitted proxy votes before the meeting, all of which were in favor of the amendment. 19 Forty-two members were physically present at the meeting, 18 of whom voted against the amendment. Of the remaining

Page 5 [4846-1597-3811]

 $^{^{16}}$ CP 52. The meeting was originally scheduled for October 27, 2015, but was continued to November 19, 2015, due to a question regarding the timing of the notice. CP 52.

¹⁷ CP 52.

¹⁸ CP 390-94.

¹⁹ CP 396.

24 members, only five voted in person, as the remainder had already voted by proxy and were explicitly told that the proxy votes would be counted; accordingly, there was no reason for members who had voted in favor by proxy to void their proxy votes and vote again.²⁰

The official vote tally of the November 19, 2015 meeting shows that the bylaw amendment passed by a vote of 78-18.²¹ Accordingly, 63.9% of Association members voted for the Bylaws amendment, 14.8% voted against the amendment, and 21.3% did not vote.²² Notably, had all 42 members in attendance voted in person, as opposed to with the use of proxies, the bylaw amendment would have still passed by a vote of 24-18.

The minutes of the November 19, 2016 Special Membership meeting were read to and adopted by the membership at the April 25, 2016 annual membership meeting.²³ No motions were made to modify the minutes as written, and no objections were made by any members.²⁴

²⁰ CP 355. Comparing the meeting sign-in sheet with the official vote tally further reflects that 19 members who were physically present at the meeting chose to let their proxy votes stand as opposed to voting a second time in person at the meeting. CP 390-94.

²¹ CP 388, 396.

²² CP 355.

²³ CP 99, 103.

²⁴ CP 99, 103

4. The Board of Directors invalidates the Members' vote.

Despite the overwhelming vote for the November 19, 2015 Bylaws Amendment, shortly after the April 25, 2016 membership meeting a majority of the Board of Directors decided that the proxy votes in support of the November 19, 2015 Bylaws Amendment should not have been allowed (even though it was the Board itself that circulated the proxy forms to members) and, therefore, the Amendment was void.²⁵ The Board based this reasoning on the language of the amendment provision of the Bylaws:

The Bylaws may be amended at any time by a vote of a majority of the members of the corporation present at any meeting of the membership duly called for such purpose.²⁶

Although the amendment provision makes no mention of an "in person" voting requirement, the Board nonetheless decided that "present" meant "present in person" and could not mean "present by proxy," even though Article V of the Bylaws, which governs membership meetings, expressly stated that "A member may exercise his right to

²⁵ CP 355 ¶ 17.

²⁶²⁶ CP 50. Oddly, none of the parties below ever submitted to the trial court a copy of the Bylaws as they existed on November 19, 2015. Rather, the only full set of the Bylaws is the version amended as of March 7, 2017. CP 43-50. But documentation regarding the March 7, 2017 meeting that details the proposed amendments shows that the provision regarding Bylaws amendments was not changed. CP 398-401.

vote by proxy."²⁷ Other provisions of the Bylaws as they existed at the time of the meeting also state that members can vote by proxy.²⁸

E. PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

Appellants Theresa J. Lowe and Loren J. and Donna A. Bosshard, along with fellow Foxhall community members Burleigh M. and Carolyn R. Cubert (collectively, "Lowe"), filed a Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief on February 22, 2017.²⁹ The Complaint sought a court determination that the November 19, 2015 Bylaw Amendment was valid and enforceable³⁰ and an injunction requiring the Board to enforce the November 19, 2015 Bylaw Amendment.³¹

On June 15, 2017, the Association filed a Motion for Summary Judgment seeking dismissal of Lowe's claims on the grounds that (1) the November 19, 2015 Bylaw conflicted with the Covenants' provision that the trails "shall be for the benefit of, and be used by, resident in Foxhall," (2) the Bylaws required that members be physically present in order to vote on a Bylaws amendment, (3) the meeting notice for the November 19, 2015 meeting was defective, and (4) there were

 $^{^{27}}$ CP 400. Notably, the Board itself was the one who circulated the proxy forms for the November 19, 2015 meeting. At the March 7, 2017 meeting, the Association added multiple questionable limitations on this right. CP 400, 46, which led to the March 7, 2017 version found at CP 43-50.

²⁸ CP 399.

²⁹ These parties will be collectively referred to as "Lowe" for ease of reference.

³⁰ CP 3.

³¹ CP 4.

procedural irregularities during the course of the November 19, 2015 meeting.³² After Lowe responded and the Association replied, the judge recused herself due to a perceived conflict-of-interest. After a series of other delays, Defendants refiled their Motion for Summary Judgment on March 19, 2018.³³ On March 22, 2018, Lowe also filed a Motion for Summary Judgment of her claims.³⁴

On April 20, 2018, the Honorable John C. Skinder granted the Association's summary-judgment motion and denied Lowe's summary-judgment motion, finding that were no material questions of fact that:

- 1. The November 19, 2015 Bylaws Amendment failed as a matter of law because the restrictions the Amendment sought to impose on the commercial use of bridle trails conflicted with the Covenants provision that the trails "shall be for the benefit of, and used by, the residents in Foxhall." 35
- 2. The process used to adopt the November 19, 2015 Bylaws Amendment violated the Bylaws because
 - a) The Bylaws amendment provision that states Bylaws can be amended "by a vote of the majority of the members of the corporation present at any meeting" meant that the members had to be physically present, not present by proxy;

Page 9 [4846-1597-3811]

³² CP 9-25.

³³ CP 144.

³⁴ CP 163-182.

³⁵ The trial court accepted the Association's argument that since the Johnsons benefitted monetarily by having their commercial non-resident boarders use the trail system, such use could not be prohibited.

- b) The meeting notice for the November 19, 2015 Bylaws Amendment was misleading and incorrect; and
- c) The "parliamentarian" at the November 19, 2015 meeting refused to allow consideration of one or more motions at the meeting.³⁶

Petitioners appealed the trial court's ruling to the Court of Appeals. In an Unpublished Opinion issued on January 7, 2020, the Court of Appeals reached only the proxy issue and held that, despite the Bylaws express provision that voting could be done in person or by proxy, for meetings called for the purpose of Bylaws amendments "present" meant only "present in person" and not "present by proxy".

F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

The Court of Appeals decision is completely contrary to Washington law and the actual language of the Foxhall Bylaws. It also effectively disenfranchises Foxhall residents who are unable to attend an association meeting due to work, illness, physical limitations, lack of access to childcare, or other family commitments.

1. The Bylaws and Washington law provide a right to vote by proxy.

Fifty-four of the Foxhall Community Association members who voted in favor of the November 19, 2015 Bylaw Amendment voted by proxy and did not physically attend the special meeting.³⁷ Additionally, 19

Page 10 [4846-1597-3811]

³⁶ CP 429-30.

³⁷ CP 355

members who physically attended the meeting did not vote at the meeting after they were told by the Board-appointed parliamentarian to rely on the proxies that they had previously submitted.³⁸ Nevertheless, the trial court and Court of Appeals held that all of these proxies were void because the proxy-holders were not "present" at the meeting. But this position makes no sense given that Washington's homeowners association statute *and* the Association's governing documents use the term "present" to include proxies. Moreover, accepting the Court of Appeals holding leads to absurd results.

a. The Bylaws expressly allow for voting by proxy.

At the time of the November 19, 2015 special meeting, the Foxhall Bylaws contained a clear and unambiguous grant of the right to use proxy votes. Specifically, Section 5 of Article V – which is the Article that governs *all* regular *and* special membership meetings – stated that "A member may exercise his right to vote by proxy."³⁹

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals accepted the Association's argument that, because the amendment provision of the Bylaws does not mention proxies, members must be physically present in order to vote. But the Bylaws amendment provision doesn't mention "in person" either – rather, it merely states that the member must be "present":

Page 11 [4846-1597-3811]

³⁸ CP 355.

³⁹ CP 400 (emphasis added).

The Bylaws may be amended at any time by a vote of a majority of the members of the corporation **present** at any meeting of the membership duly called for such purpose.⁴⁰

Similarly, the Bylaws' do not require physical, "in person" presence for the purpose of establishing a quorum:

At all annual and special meetings of the members, ten percent of all of the members of the corporation shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. Each single membership shall be entitled to one vote and multiple memberships shall be entitled to one vote per lot owned and they shall be similarly counted to determine the **presence of a quorum.**⁴¹

Hence, the Association Bylaws don't require a member to be "present in person" any more than they require a member to be "present by proxy."

Moreover, contracts (and statutes) must be interpreted to give effect to all their provisions rather than adopting an interpretation that renders some of the language meaningless or ineffective. Here, the Foxhall Bylaws provision regarding membership meetings explicitly allow "a member [to] exercise his right to vote by proxy." Rather than using this directive, the Court of Appeals effectively severs this directive and looks solely at the language of the amendment provision.

This is contrary to Washington law.

⁴⁰ CP 50 (emphasis added).

⁴¹ CP 46.

 $^{^{42}}$ Hearst Commc'ns Inc. v. Seattle Times Co., 154 Wn.2d 493, at 503-04, 115 P.3d 262 (2005); see also Newsom v. Miller, 42 Wn.2d 727, 731, 258 P.2d 812 (1953).

⁴³ CP 400 (emphasis added).

Finally, the Court of Appeals reliance on the "plain meaning" of "present" is mistaken even if the allowance of proxy voting wasn't firmly addressed by the Bylaws. When an otherwise common word is given a distinct meaning in a legal or technical context, courts do not rely on the "ordinary meaning." As set forth in RCW 64.28.040 (discussed further below) and multiple other authority, when the interpretation involves corporate and governance documents, the "plain and ordinary meaning" of "present" means "present in person or by proxy."

Overall, the Court of Appeals decision that proxies could not be used as part of the vote on the November 19, 2015 Bylaws Amendment is wholly contrary to the Bylaws.

⁴⁴ Citizens All. for Prop. Rights Legal Fund v. San Juan Cty., 184 Wn. 2d 428, 443-44, 359 P.3d 753 (2015) ("While we typically ascertain plain meaning from standard English dictionaries, it is helpful to examine legal dictionaries when words are used in a legal context."); City of Spokane ex rel. Wastewater Mgmt. Dep't v. Washington State Dep't of Revenue, 145 Wn. 2d 445, 454, 38 P.3d 1010 (2002) ("...where an otherwise common word is given a distinct meaning in a technical dictionary or other technical reference and has a well-accepted meaning within the industry, and when the word is used in a rule promulgated by an expert agency familiar with the technical meaning, courts should turn to a technical rather than a general purpose dictionary to resolve ambiguities in its definition...."); Polygon Northwest Co. v. American Nat. Fire Ins. Co., 143 Wn. App. 753, 189 P.3d 777 (2008) (trial court properly applied commonly understood legal meaning of "costs taxed against the insured" to mean "taxable costs," excluding attorney's fees); Whidbey Gen. Hosp. v. State, 143 Wn. App. 620, 180 P.3d 796 (2008) (When an otherwise common word is given a distinct meaning in a technical dictionary or other technical reference and has a well-accepted meaning within the industry, courts construing that word in a statute turn to the technical, rather than general purpose, dictionary to resolve the word's definition); Bernhard v. Reischman, 33 Wn. App. 569, 577, 658 P.2d 2 (1983) ("If parties to an insurance contract use words having a specific legal meaning, they will be presumed to have intended that those words be construed in accordance with established rules of law.")

b. Washington's homeowners' association statute expressly allows for voting by proxy.

Washington's homeowners' association statute⁴⁵ mandates that proxies are counted as "present" for the purpose of a quorum:

Unless the governing documents specify a different percentage, a quorum is present throughout any meeting of the association if the owners to which thirty-four percent of the votes of the association are allocated are present in person or by proxy at the beginning of the meeting.⁴⁶

While it is uncontroverted that the homeowners' association statute allows homeowners associations to determine what *percentage* of members "present" will constitute a quorum if the association chooses not to use the statutory default, nothing in the statute gives authority to an association to decide whether members are considered present only if they are physically present. Instead, the statute states that whatever the percentage of owners specified, they are to be counted if they "...are present in person or by proxy at the beginning of the meeting." Thus, while the actual percentage is determined by the association, an association has no authority to change the counting method for finding a quorum.

It is black letter law that when interpreting a statute, a court must avoid "unlikely, absurd, or strained" results that would follow their

⁴⁵ RCW ch. 64.38.

⁴⁶ RCW 64.38.040.

⁴⁷ Id.

interpretation.⁴⁸ Here, following the Court of Appeals' decision to its logical conclusion would create a situation where proxies would be used to establish a quorum present at a meeting where the bylaws were to be amended but would then be disregarded when it came time to vote. For example, under the Court of Appeals interpretation, it would be possible that 90% of members voted by proxy for a given outcome while ten percent opposed voted in person. The members present by proxy would be counted towards establishing the quorum, but their actual proxy could not be counted for the substantive vote. Rather, the 10% minority who showed up "in person" would nullify the will of the 90% majority, thereby allowing the clear minority to dictate the outcome.

This outcome is made more absurd by the facts here. Nineteen members who had previously submitted proxies also attended the membership meeting but did not vote "in person" to ensure there was no double voting and because they had been assured by the Board's representative that their proxy would count as it always had previously.⁴⁹ Had they voted in person the way they voted by proxy, the amendment would have passed, because a majority of those attending in person supported it.⁵⁰

⁴⁸ Fraternal Order of Eagles, Tenino Aerie No. 564 v. Grand Aerie of Fraternal Order of Eagles, 148 Wn.2d 224, 239, 59 P.3d 655 (2002).

⁴⁹ CP 355.

⁵⁰ *Id*.

At the very least this Court should recognize that the members who were physically at the meeting and supported the amendment should not be punished for following the Association's direction and trying to ensure a smooth counting process by allowing their proxies to stand.

Finally, while RCW 64.38.040 is the governing statute here, it is not the only example in which "present" is described as in person or by proxy. For example, Washington's law governing condominium associations also defines being "present" to include presence both in person and by proxy:

Unless the bylaws specify a larger percentage, a quorum is present throughout any meeting of the association if the owners of units to which twenty-five percent of the votes of the association are allocated are present in person or by proxy at the beginning of the meeting.⁵¹

Likewise, the American Jurisprudence Legal Forms for § 64.38 on bylaws for Association of Owners repeatedly use the phrase "presence in person or by proxy" or similar language. Finally, this Court has recognized that "present" did not equate to physical presence in a forprofit corporation context in *Wool Growers Service Corp. v. Ragan*:

Galanena, apparently, did not attend this meeting. The minutes of the stockholders' meeting, reducing the number of trustees from four to three, which was held on the same day, recite that Galanena was present by his power of attorney and proxy to Ellis Ragan.⁵²

In sum, the Court of Appeals' decision is contrary to law.

⁵¹ RCW 64.34.336.

⁵² 18 Wn.2d 655, 677, 140 P.2d 512 (1943) (emphasis added).

2. Barring proxy voting violates public policy.

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