FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/9/2020 4:32 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 98163-9

(Court of Appeals No. 51898-8-II)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THERESA J. LOWE, a single woman; LOREN J. BOSSHARD and DONNA A. BOSSHARD, husband and wife; BURLEIGH M. CUBERT and CAROLYN R. CUBERT, husband and wife,

Appellants/Petitioners,

v.

FOXHALL COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION,

Respondent.

ANSWERING BRIEF OF RESPONDENT FOXHALL COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Shawna M. Lydon, WSBA #34278 Luisa E. Taddeo, WSBA #48677 Betts Patterson & Mines One Convention Place, Suite 1400 701 Pike Street Seattle WA 98101-3927 Telephone: (206) 292-9988

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Lowe's Petition for Review Does Not Meet the Criteria Set Forth by the Rules Governing Acceptance of Review and Should be Denied

The Rules of Appellate Procedure ("RAP") allow a petition for review to be accepted by the Supreme Court *only* if one of the following criteria set forth in RAP 13(b) is met:

- The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court;
- The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals;
- A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved²; or
- 4) The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

As set forth in more detail below, since none of the above criteria is met

² This factor need not be discussed as it is undisputed it does not apply here.

by Lowe, the Supreme Court must deny review.

1. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Not in Conflict with Any Supreme Court Case

Notably, in its petition for review, Lowe does not allege or cite to any Supreme Court decision that conflicts with the Court of Appeals' decision, because none exists. In fact, the only Supreme Court of Washington cases Lowe cites in her petition for review relating to contract and statute interpretation support the Association's position. (Pet. Rev. at 12-16).

a) It is Well-Established by the Supreme Court That the Only Reasonable Interpretation for Contract Terms is to Look at the Words Explicitly Written in a Contract

In interpreting contracts, the Court must look at the explicit language in the provision at issue. Lowe sites to *Hearst Communications*, *Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.* to support her position that the Court of Appeals' decision was contrary to Washington law because the court looked solely at the language of the amendment provision. In that case, the Supreme Court of Washington, however, held that when interpreting contracts, the intent of the drafter must be determined from the <u>actual words used</u>. *Hearst Communications, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wash.2d 493, 503-504, 115 P.3d 262 (2005). The Court in *Hearst* was unconvinced by the similar argument presented by Lowe here. *Id.* at 510. Specifically, the

Court held that the language of the agreements in that case was subject to only one reasonable interpretation – that is, the words explicitly written into the provisions at issue. *Id.* The Court additionally found it "unreasonable to suggest that the absence of any negotiation about the applicability of one clause to another, especially where the clauses do not reference each other, leads to the conclusion that they were intended to apply to each other." *Id.* at 509.

Here, Lowe makes the argument that the Court of Appeals should have looked to the other provisions in the Bylaws to interpret the plain language of the amendment provision at issue – despite the lack of any reference of the amendment provision to other provisions allowing a vote by proxy. Notably, Lowe makes no claim that the amendment provision somehow applies or references other provisions that allow voting by proxy, because the amendment provision clearly avoids such an application or reference. Thus, like in *Hearst Communications*, it is unreasonable to conclude that the amendment provision intended to mean something that was not explicitly included in that provision.³

-

³ Other Supreme Court cases regarding contract interpretation relied upon by Petitioner similarly either support the Association's position or do not apply to this case. *See for e.g. Newsom v. Miller*, 42 Wn.2d 727, 731, 258 P.2d 812 (1953) (court held that there was no meeting of the minds and no contract between the parties where language in a purported "acceptance" of a counter-offer is ambiguous – that case did <u>not</u> involve an already existing contract, as here; further, it is important to note that Lowe makes no argument that the amendment provision is ambiguous; the only reference Lowe makes in

Lowe also relies on Supreme Court case law to attempt a re-draft of the amendment provision such that "present" is meant to mean "in person or by proxy" despite the explicit lack of the proxy language in the amendment provision. It is well-established law in Washington when discussing contract interpretation that the lack of an express term with the inclusion of other similar terms is evidence of drafter's intent. Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Ass'n, 180 Wn.2d 241, 255, 327 P.3d 614 (2014). Lowe does not dispute that other provisions of the Bylaws do specifically allow a vote by proxy (for e.g. the provisions on quorum and general provision relating to voting at membership meetings). If the drafters similarly intended to allow the Bylaws to be amended by a vote by proxy, this language would have been included in the amendment provision. But, since it is not, the language explicitly in the amendment provision is binding. It does not allow voting by proxy for Bylaw amendments and Lowe's arguments fail.

b) The Homeowner's Association Statute is Consistent with Supreme Court Decisions on Contract Interpretation

RCW Chapter 64.38 governs Washington's law on homeowner's associations (hereinafter referred to as the "HAA"). The HAA explicitly

her petition for review that the word "present" in the amendment provision is ambiguous is in the section on public policy, but not in any other context).

12

-

treats bylaw amendments differently from other votes.⁴ RCW 64.38.030(5).

Ultimately, Lowe argues that because proxy votes are *explicitly* allowed in other contexts, they must also be *implicitly* allowed for Bylaws amendments in order to prevent an "absurd result." This argument rests on an apparent belief that votes to amend an association's bylaws should be just as easy as any other vote. But there are legitimate reasons to require more rigorous procedures for Bylaws amendments than other votes. Changing an association's governing documents is different in quality, class and importance from more mundane votes such as whether to fund gravel for the trails or who will serve as the next treasurer.

Lowe claims that disallowing proxy voting causes "disenfranchising" among Foxhall residents who are unable to attend an association meeting due to work, illness, physical limitations, lack of access to childcare, or other family commitments. (Pet. Rev. at 10.) Lowe ignores, however, how critical it is that voters hear the reasons for and against important decisions, such as amendments to Bylaws, and have a

_

⁴ RCW 64.38.030 illustrates this point as it defers to the governing documents when determining the method of amending an association's bylaws. Directly relevant is the language, "[u]nless provided for in the governing documents ..." Thus, the HAA would apply <u>only if</u> the governing documents do not specify a different procedure. Here, the governing document (i.e. the amendment provision) *does* specify a different procedure, and therefore the language in the governing document controls.

meaningful opportunity to participate in any final language adopted. Proxy voting, by contrast, can distort the decision-making process by putting a tremendous amount of power into the hands of a few. The distortion is illustrated here by the way the few tried to ram through this change through intimidation, providing misleading information, and disallowing a vote on a motion to amend the proposal. (*See* CP 65-72, 60-62.). The safeguards built into the Bylaws to prevent this situation are not "absurd."

2. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Consistent with Precedent Across All Three Divisions of the Washington Courts

There is not a case in existence that contradicts the Court of Appeals' decision in this case. In fact, there are several cases throughout each Division of the Courts of Appeals that support the decision.

Article X of the Bylaws states explicitly that they can only be amended "by a vote of a majority of the members of the corporation *present* at any meeting of the membership duly called for such purposes." (CP 50 (emphasis added).) Lowe maintains that "present" in this context means present in person or by proxy. The Court should reject this argument, which strips Article X of the Bylaws of its plain meaning and undermines the special treatment of bylaws amendments in the law.

Language should be given it plain meaning. Viking Bank v.

Firgrove Commons 3, LLC, 183 Wn. App. 706, 713, 334 P.3d 116 (2014). The meaning of Article X is plain and unambiguous. The Bylaws amendment clause is placed within its own Article, highlighting its importance. The dictionary or plain language meaning of "present" is "being in one place and not elsewhere," "being within reach, sight, or call or within contemplated limits," "being in view or at hand," or "being before, beside, with, or in the same place as someone or something." Webster's Third Int'1 Dictionary, 1793 (1986); see Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Hayles, Inc., 136 Wn. App. 531, 537, 150 P.3d 589 (2007) (the ordinary meaning of a word is considered to be the dictionary definition of a word); see also State Farm Fire and Casualty Company v. Peters, 200 Wash. App. 1021, 2017 WL 3476787 (2017) (in reference to insurance contracts, court must enforce the contract as written if the language is clear and unambiguous).

Nowhere in Article X is "present" defined as including being somewhere when one is not actually there. Allowing such an interpretation would force the Court to include terms in the Bylaws that were not included in the amendment provision. There would be a different result, of course, if the Bylaws amendment provision said, "present in person or by proxy." This would mean that the drafters intended that the usual meaning of "present" was to be altered to include those not actually

present but having given a proxy to another. There would also be a different result if the word "present" in either the governing statutes of the governing documents defined present to mean "in person or by proxy." Of course, there are no such definitions. Further, as set forth above, all divisions of the Court of Appeals consistently hold that a court must enforce a contract as written, especially where, as here, the language is plain and unambiguous.

3. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Good Policy and Granting the Petition for Review Advocates Bad Policy

Lowe wrongly maintains that the Court of Appeals' reasoning bars the use of proxy voting. (Pet. Rev. at 17.) Lowe's argument fails because it is flawed and ignores the narrow issue, which is that the Bylaws *here* pertaining to amendments do not allow for proxy voting, otherwise, the drafters of those Bylaws would have included such language in the amendment provision. Lowe argues that not allowing proxy voting puts a tremendous amount of power into the hands of a few. First, this argument overlooks the board of director's fiduciary duties to the Association. Also, this argument overlooks the fact that proxy voting in this context would allow an individual to vote on an amendment without being present and participating in the discussion. This is concerning especially in this case where notice of the meeting was defective. Contrary to Lowe's argument,

if proxy voting would have been allowed in this context, it would have allowed votes in favor of an amendment where some voters were not provided notice, and would have the opposite effect of giving "tremendous power" to the parliamentarian of the meeting.

Additionally, Lowe makes the case that the Court of Appeals' decision is "troubling precedent" for any corporate association, nonprofit or otherwise. Lowe, however, discounts those organization's ability to ensure the language of their Bylaws accurately reflects their intent – whether that intent is to allow proxy voting on bylaw amendments or for other voting. Contrary to Lowe's arguments, allowing words in an organization's bylaws to mean something more than what they actually say would be concerning from a public policy perspective. Here, where the Court of Appeals correctly applied well-standing Washington law, the public interest is unaffected.

B. The Court Should Not Accept Review Because There are Additional Grounds to Grant Summary Judgment to the Association

There are additional grounds to affirm summary judgment for the Association. While the Court of Appeals did not reach these issues, the trial court nonetheless found summary dismissal in favor of the Association appropriate on three other grounds.

First, the trial court properly ruled that the Bylaws amendment imposed new restrictions on the use of common property that conflicted with the protective covenants governing the development. (CP 428-430.)

Second, the trial court properly decided that the adoption of the November 2015 Bylaws Amendment violated several bylaw provisions governing procedures for Bylaws amendments given the procedural flaws with the way that the Bylaws amendment was adopted, any one of which would have required invalidation of the Amendment. *Id.* Further discussion of these other grounds for upholding the trial court decision are fully set forth in the Respondent's briefing to the Court of Appeals.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny review.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 9th day of March, 2020.

BETTS, PATTERSON & MINES, P.S.

By /s Luisa E. Taddeo
Shawna M. Lydon, WSBA #34278
Luisa E. Taddeo, WSBA #48677
Betts Patterson & Mines
One Convention Place, Suite 1400
701 Pike Street
Seattle WA 98101-3927
Telephone: (206) 292-9988

Facsimile: (206) 343-7053 Attorneys for Respondent